**RECEIVED**

**Nov 01 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

*On Writ of Certiorari to the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas*  
The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

JAMES MICHAEL JOHNSON, #340206,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001191

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in finding defense counsel was deficient in representation, and that his deficiency prejudiced Johnson, based upon finding “exculpatory” value in Johnson’s cell phone records such as would support the legal requirements of alibi when those records do not show any actual use of the phone, much less use by Johnson, in a different location from the murder?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent James Michael Johnson is currently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections at Evans Correctional Institution pursuant to orders of commitment from the Greenville County Clerk of Court. A Greenville County grand jury indicted Johnson in March 2014 for two counts of murder and he was also charged with two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (App., at 1136, 2014-GS-23-2201 and 2203).<sup>1</sup> Johnson was tried by a jury on July 13-16, 2015. Zachary D. Ellis, Esq., represented him on the charges. The Honorable J. Derham Cole presided. The jury convicted as charged. Judge Cole sentenced Johnson to 30 years imprisonment for each murder, and 5 years on each weapons charge, all concurrent. (App., at 1140, Sentencing Sheets). Though he timely appealed, Johnson, through counsel, moved to dismiss the direct appeal prior to briefing. (App., at 1133). The Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal on February 23, 2017, and issued the remittitur on March 13, 2017. (App., at 1134).

Johnson, again through counsel, filed an application for post-conviction relief on December 4, 2017, and raised the following issues:

- (a) Failure to properly prepare and investigate the case. (Including failure to investigate and obtain evidence, surveillance video, cell phone records, cell phone video recordings, etc., that would establish a defense in the case. Failure to obtain transcripts from court proceedings wherein potential witnesses had given previous testimony. Failure to follow instructions or requests of the applicant. Failure to

---

<sup>1</sup> At trial, the solicitor advised that in Indictment 2203, the possession of a weapon charge was by direct presentment. (App., at 643).

properly present an adequate defense based on the facts and circumstances of the case. Failure to properly conduct discovery in the case. Failure to properly subpoena and call witnesses and present evidence in the case. Failure to raise proper objections during the trial and to present and preserve evidentiary issues. Making improper stipulations or giving consent to issues during the trial which were adverse to the defense of the case. Failure to move for appropriate suppression hearings and properly object to the testimony of witnesses and evidence in a timely manner. Failure to properly and effectively cross-examine the State's witnesses. Failure to raise and properly argue and preserve record and issues for appeal. Failure to make a proffer of evidence when warranted by the circumstances of the case and properly present and preserve issues for appeal. Failure to make and preserve the record in cases of conferences at the bench and in chambers. Failing to call co-defendant as a witness where the co-defendant had in his guilty plea indicated that the Applicant was not involved in the crime or otherwise provide favorable testimony. Failure of counsel to communicate all plea offers to the Applicant and to adequately discuss same. Failure to properly discuss the case and advise the Applicant on the applicable law and procedure and facts known or believed to exist. (Including the failure to meet with the applicant adequately and the failure to, in a timely manner, fully review and discuss the discovery material, evidence, law, and procedure so that the applicant would fully understand the charges, consequences and choices, including plea options). Failure to fully understand and timely explain the advantages of a guilty plea and the plea offers.

(b) Failure of the State to produce discoverable material that would have aided in the defense of the case.

(App., at 3). Robert C. Childs, III, Esq., and J. Falkner Wilkes, Esq., represented him in the action.

An evidentiary hearing on the allegations was held in Greenville County January 31, 2023, through February 2, 2023, before the Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr. (App., at 27). At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Morgan took the matter under advisement and granted the parties' joint request that they be allowed to submit post-hearing briefs in lieu of closing argument "on the allegations which the Court was being asked to rule upon," which was later summarized as follows:

1. Applicant's counsel was ineffective for failing to take reasonable steps to understand and evaluate exculpatory evidence contained in cellular phone records.
2. Applicant's counsel was ineffective for failing to present exculpatory evidence proving the identity of perpetrator.

3. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutor's improper and prejudicial opening statements.
4. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to use all available matters to impeach state's key witness.

(*See App.*, at 601).

The State filed its brief on May 1, 2023, (*App.*, at 573), and Johnson filed his brief on May 5, 2023, (*App.*, at 588). Judge Morgan granted relief in an order filed on June 27, 2023. (*App.*, at 598). Judge Morgan denied relief on all grounds apart from one: "Applicant's claim that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to present evidence in support of the defense of alibi." (*See App.*, at 602-607). The State appeals the grant of relief as it reflects errors of law and a lack of probative evidence to support the critical fact-finding.

#### **THE STATE'S STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On April 3, 2011, around 10:00 am, fire department personnel responded to victim Christopher Porcoro's home. Smoke was coming from the kitchen area of the small duplex. A propane canister had been placed in the oven and other evidence showed an intent to have the fire spread. (*App.*, 740-745). Firemen saw Chris's body on a couch in the living area. While attempting to get to Chris for possible aid, they discovered the second victim, Amber Daniel. (*App.*, at 746-747). What became apparent was that Chris and Amber had been brutally murdered. Chris sustained three gunshot wounds – one to the back of head, one behind his right ear, and one to the cheek. (*App.*, at 800-801). Ms. Daniel suffered a severe beating to the head, resulting in a "caved in" portion of the skull, and 7 gunshot wounds to her body, including a close range shot just under her nose. (*App.*, at 805-810). From the wounds, the pathologist was able to determine that there were 2 different weapons of different calibers used. (*App.*, at 817-819).

Respondent Johnson's co-conspirators, Nick Granados and Scott Lowe, were charged with murder, but pled guilty to manslaughter. Lowe testified against Johnson at trial. Johnson lived a few miles from Chris and Amber. All three knew Chris from buying or selling drugs, and Lowe and Johnson had dated Amber. (App., at 863-865 and 870-872). Johnson lived just a few minutes from Chris. (App., at 860). Lowe had lost his jeep and personal possessions in the jeep when the jeep was seized as mobile meth lab. (App., at 867). In need of money, Lowe agreed to join with Johnson to rob Chris, a dealer known to have drugs and money at his home. (App., at 867-869 and 876). They had selected a time, Sunday morning, when they thought Chris would be asleep. Granados was to be "the inside man" to help with entry to Chris's home. (App., at 879 and 882). Lowe testified that he gave Johnson a .380 to use. (App., at 885). Lowe admitted to shooting Chris and Amber. (App., at 873-874). He had a .38. (App., at 884). Lowe testified that Johnson beat and shot Amber. (App., at 890). Lowe testified they wanted to make it look like a meth lab explosion in the home. (App. 892). Lowe testified that he, Johnson, and Grandados divided the drugs and money (approximately \$3,000) that they took from Chris's home. (App., at 892 and 895). He testified that he gave his gun to Granados to take to North Carolina because it was the murder weapon. (App., at 895-896; *see also* 874 and 901). Granados was arrested in North Carolina after firing a weapon in a home. Officers located a .38 and a .22., the .38 being Lowe's weapon. (App., at 844 and 854). Lowe testified that Johnson threw his gun in a pond. (App., at 884).

After the murder, according to Lowe, Johnson "said that he had somebody for his alibi" and that "he was going to get his girlfriend to vouch for him." (App., at 898). However, officers interviewed Johnson's girlfriend, Jordan Gary, but she stated she was not with Johnson at the time

of the murders. (App., at 1042-1045). But she recalled that Lowe was with him when Jordan left, several hours before the murder. (App., at 1041). Other evidence also connected Johnson to Lowe. Shortly after the murder, Amber's father received a call from a number associated with Johnson, but received a text indicating it was "Scott," a call Lowe admitted to making. (App., at 984-988 and 965). Further, Johnson had been incarcerated with Billy Purham who testified that Johnson admitted: (1) that he was involved with the murders and that "it was a robbery went bad and that after the robbery they tried to burn the house," (2) that "he had a girl that was supposed to lie" to provide him with alibi; (3) that Scott Lowe and "Nick somebody" were involved; (4) "that Scott was the shooter and he had some guy inside the house that was supposed to let him in and stuff"; (5) that they "[t]hrew one gun in a pond by an apartment complex on Wade Hampton and some guy took them to North Carolina and get rid of them but he ended up getting arrested with them." (App., at 1069-1070).

As asserted above, the jury convicted after hearing the evidence.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellate courts "review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts." *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180–81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). In general, appellate courts will "defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them." *Id.* at 180, 810 at 839. "However, this Court will not uphold the findings of a PCR court if no probative evidence supports those findings." *Rutland v. State*, 415 S.C. 570, 576, 785 S.E.2d 350, 353 (2016) (citing *Holland v. State*, 322 S.C. 111, 113, 470 S.E.2d 378, 379 (1996)). Likewise, an appellate court " ' will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is

controlled by an error of law.’ ” *Jordan v. State*, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013) (citing *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012)).

## **ARGUMENT**

Respondent submits that the PCR judge committed reversible error in two ways. First, the factual findings that the phone records offered during the PCR hearing are exculpatory as they support an alibi defense is not supported by the testimony and is controlled by an error of law. Critically, the PCR judge failed to consider the facts presented on cell phone location data in context of the legal requirements of alibi. Second, the PCR judge failed to give deference to counsel’s strategic reasons both for not utilizing the phone records, and in stopping investigation into Johnson’s phone records. Specifically, counsel expressed sound and reasonable strategic reasons to avoid offering the cell phone records including the fact that records linked Respondent to the co-defendant in the case. When the facts are not construed beyond the fair weight of their worth as demonstrated by the evidence, and when the facts are considered in light of the proper controlling law, there could be no basis to support a grant of relief. Respondent seeks review by this Court and reversal of the factually and legally erroneous decision granting relief.

### *Standard of Review for Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims*

To show a violation of the Sixth Amendment, an applicant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and but for counsel’s error, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984); *Simpson v. Moore*, 367 S.C. 587, 595–96, 627 S.E.2d 701,

706 (2006). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome” of the trial. *Strickland*, at 694. It is presumed that counsel made all decisions in exercise of reasonable judgment. *Strickland*, at 689.

“[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary,” but those decisions “may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant’s own statements or actions.” *Id.*, at 691. If “the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated altogether.” *Id.* Further, if communication with the “defendant has given counsel reason to believe that pursuing certain investigations would be fruitless or even harmful, counsel’s failure to pursue those investigations may not later be challenged as unreasonable.” *Id.*

#### *The Defense of Alibi in South Carolina*

The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that:

The literal significance of the word “alibi” is “elsewhere”; as used in criminal law, it indicates that line of proof by which an accused undertakes to show that because he was not at the scene of the time at the time of its commission, having been at another place at the time, he could not have committed the crime. In order words, by an alibi the accused attempts to prove that he was at a place so distant that his participation in the crime was impossible. To be successful, his alibi must cover the entire time when his presence was required for accomplishment of the crime. To establish an alibi, the accused must show that he was at another specified place at the time the crime was committed, thus making it impossible for him to have been at the scene of the crime. It is not enough for the accused to say that he was not at the scene and must therefore have been elsewhere. The latter statement does not constitute an alibi. And since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the accused’s guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all.

*State v. Baker*, 411 S.C. 583, 591, 769 S.E.2d 860, 864-65 (2015) (quoting *State v. Robbins*, 275 S.C. 373, 271 S.E.2d 319 (1980)).

### *Analysis*

In his PCR action, Johnson claimed that counsel failed to investigate and present exculpatory evidence contained in his phone records, specifically that “Applicant’s phone was sending and receiving texts throughout the day of the murders including texts at 8:52, 9:03, 9:14, 9:33, 9:56, 10:07, and 10:46 a.m.” (*See App.*, at 603). Attempting to carry his burden of proof, Johnson presented Ben Levitan who was qualified to testify as an expert as follows:

...the witness is qualified as an expert due to his education, his work experience and his professional experience in the area of cell phone technology to include the interpretation of data relating to *location of the cell phone used*.

(*App.*, at 69, lines 8-13 and 74) (emphasis added). *See State v. Wallace*, 440 S.C. 537, 549, 892 S.E.2d 310, 316 (2023) (“complexity” of the testimony to be offered relevant in considering expert’s qualification). The expert testified consistent with the reason he was offered, on the location of the cell phone. He candidly testified “I cannot say he was in this area” around his home, only that “[h]is phone records are consistent with him in this area.” (*App.*, at 84, lines 8-10; *see also App.*, at 93, line 23- 94, line 2, agreeing that “Mr. Johnson’s phone on the day of the murder” was near “his local tower” and not the tower near the murder). Yet, the murder scene was only 3 miles from the home – an estimated travel time, by car, of six minutes. (*See App.*, at 104).

Johnson also presented his mother and father at the PCR hearing. Mother Patricia Fuller testified that she saw Johnson asleep on the couch (contrary to Johnson’s own statement and attempted alibi), and said she “never saw” Johnson “leave the house that day.” (*App.*, at 118-119; *see also App.*, at 605). Respondent also presented his father, Don Johnson, who testified he saw Respondent Johnson asleep on the couch (again contrary to Respondent Johnson’s own statement) around 9:30 to 9:45. (*App.*, 129). Both testified that they were prepared to testify at trial, but were,

Inexplicably, not called. (App., at 124-126 and 133).

Respondent Johnson, when asked at the PCR hearing if he was aware that he had been using his cell phone at approximately 9:56 a.m. on April 3, 2011, responded, somewhat curiously, “I am now.” (App., at 146, lines 9-14). He admitted being arrested for obstruction of justice because his original alibi provided in his statement to investigators that he had been girlfriend Jordan Gary at the time of the murders was false. (App., at 150-151). He also, and again somewhat curiously, testified that he “wouldn’t think” that he would be able to participate in the murder the burning of the home and be back at his house in approximately 23 minutes. (App., at 155). He testified that he could not recall the “details” of his discussions with counsel about phone records, but asserted that he “would have pressed the issue *regardless of the phone records* because I didn’t have anything to do” with the murders. (App., at 158). However, he did not testify at trial, but affirmatively waived the opportunity. (App., at 1077).

It is undisputed the counsel knew what Johnson’s parents would say, and counsel did not call the parents. (App., at 167 and 173-174). Counsel testified that Johnson asserted “that Jordan Gary would vouch for where he was as well” and “[p]ossibly Georgia Bowers.” (App., at 174 lines 4-8). Counsel also testified that “in speaking to both of his parents on numerous occasions and also ... my client ... if I recall correctly there was concern that the times when the murder could have occurred that they were not able to positively place him where he would not have been at the murder scene.” (App., at 245). Counsel maintained that due to his discussions with Johnson and his parents both before and during trial, “the decision was made not to” call the parents as witnesses. (App., at 293). Counsel testified, though inconsistent, Johnson generally maintained he was at his house. (App., at 294-295).

Counsel also testified that he had copies of Johnson's cell phone records. (App., at 174 and 178). He testified that he and his staff did look at the records but he was not confident that he could show cell location away from the crime scene. (App., at 180-181, 208 and 210). The State did not attempt to use the records in their case, (App., at 108); however, counsel's "concern was that ... the records did show that he had had – he'd had numerous communications with Scott Lowe surrounding the incident," (App., at 209, lines 20-22). Counsel testified that his "hope was that we could minimize any use of the cell phone records with any importance the jury would attach to the cell phone records to not expose, you know, James anymore than necessary to ... show then that he was in cahoots with Scott Lowe." (App., at 209 line 24 – p. 210, line 3). Counsel did not fully agree that the information could be useful (only that it "possibly" could be so), and testified to his "understanding" that may "factors ... play into" location mapping, and readily admitted he did not retain an expert. (App., at 229). Counsel sagely testified, "Just because his cell phone is somewhere doesn't mean that he is." (App., at 246, lines 3-4). Further, in his testimony during cross-examination by the State, counsel testified that his understanding was the tower closest to the phone "may not be the tower it was pinging off of." (App., at 266, lines 1-5).

Counsel later testified again that he was "primarily concerned with whether it showed collusion, or corroboration, communication, et cetera between" Johnson and Lowe. (App., at 229). He added there were "other factors" surrounding retaining an expert, and asserted he had "no ability to afford one given the parameters I had for the case." (App., at 229). He explained that during many conversations with Johnson and his parents that he "tried to explore possible alibis." (App., at 251). Counsel testified that Johnson had provided "contradictory statements ... in the

past about his location that morning,” and that he ultimately did not believe there was credible evidence of alibi. (App., at 252-258).

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