RECEIVED

Jan 09 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

JAMES MICHAEL JOHNSON, #340206,Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,Petitioner.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001191

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Robert Clyde Childs, III
Childs Law Firm LLC
P. O Box 1519
Travelers Rest, SC 29690
robert@lawyerchilds.com
(864) 242-9997
(864) 242-9914

J. Falkner Wilkes
248 Deerwood Park Drive
Oakland, MS 38948
jfalknerwilkes@gmail.com
(864) 421-4618

Counsel for Respondent

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to the Applicant's trial defense counsel was provided with pre-trial discovery material. (App. at 273-278; App. at 381-427). Discovery material included the cell phone records for James Johnson (Applicant), Manuel Nicholas Granados ("Granados" or "Inside Man"), Christopher Porcoro ("Victim One", "Victim Two" was the ex-girlfriend of the "Shooter" Scott Lowe), Coroner's reports, 911/EMS reports. Greenville County 911/EMS records showed a fire call to the murder scene was received at 10:13 a.m. The record from Applicant's General Session's trial shows that Granados was the Shooter's inside man at Victim One's house waiting for the victims to go to sleep so he could let the Shooter in the house so the Shooter could steal the Victim One's drugs and money. (App. at 933-935).

Cell phone records show that the last call made from victim Christopher Porcoro's phone was at 8:22 a.m. the morning of the murders. Granados' cell phone records show a sudden gap between 9:37 a.m. to 10:17 a.m. in Granados' otherwise constant cell phone usage. (App. at 44-45; App. at 381-408). The coroner's reports which showed the time of death for both victims as 10:00 a.m. (App. at 168-169; App. at 458-463).

There was an abundance of evidence known to defense counsel prior to trial that established the time of the murders between 9:37 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. Applicant's cell phone records show Applicant's phone was sending and receiving texts throughout the day of the murders including texts at 8:52 a.m., 9:03 a.m., 9:14 a.m., 9:33 a.m., 9:56 a.m., 10:07 a.m. and 10:46 a.m. (App. at 176-179; App. at 419-457). Location data from the cell phone records show that all of those text messages were sent or received through the cell tower servicing the Applicant's home. (App. at 92-94; App. at 419-427). Despite its exculpatory value, none of this was shown to the

jury.

Defense Counsel admitted at Applicant's hearing that he did not know how to use the cell phone records. "Essentially we could not nail down the information with enough certainty to feel like we could do that", "we did not feel confident enough that we had - -were able to nail down a location." (App. at 180-181).

Former Greenville County Sheriff's Deputy of 27 years and former Sheriff's Office Homicide Supervisor and licensed private investigator, Paul Silvaggio, (App.at 102-103) testified at the PCR hearing on behalf of the Applicant that using the trial transcript, incident reports, and relevant addresses that he timed, measured, averaged and used different times of day to determine the distances and timing to the locations pertinent to the murder scene, applicant's home, and the drop-off of a co-defendant. (App. at 103-109). He determined that the round-trip drive between the Appellant's house and the murder scene, on the route testified to by the shooter at Applicant's trial, was approximately 14 minutes and that Google timed the travel at 17 minutes (App. at 108). Evidence from the Applicant's trial also shows that after the murders, furniture, blankets and things were place over the victims and there was an attempt to set the house on fire and stage the murder scene to look like meth lab explosion, all of which would have necessarily added a significant amount of time that the perpetrators would have had to remain at the murder scene. (App at 195-197).

At the Post Conviction Relief Hearing, Ben Levitan was qualified as an expert in cell phone technology including interpretation of data location information from cellular records. (App. at 69 and 71). He spent 30 years in the design and development of the worldwide cell phone network and is part of a group of engineers that actually set up the network. He worked for Verizon, Sprint,

Nextel, Alltel and GTE and has been an independent consultant for the past 12 years. (App. at 53-54). Levitan explained the basic operation of cell phones and how cell phones accessed cellular service through a network of towers. (App. at 60-62). Levitan explained how and why cell phones always connect to their service provider's nearest tower and that service areas for towers are mutually exclusive. (App. at 56, 62 and 80). The murder scene and the Applicant's home are in different cell tower coverage areas and that service for those areas are mutually exclusive. (App. at 56, 62 and 80). Identifying 25,958 text messages Levitan testified that the Applicant was an obsessive cell phone user. (App. at 88, 95 and 97). Records for the day of the murders were consistent with Applicant's overall obsessive phone usage showing a high volume of calls and texts. This included a series of calls or texts made or received within just minutes of the murders. (App. at 92-93; App. at 419-427). All of these calls and texts, including those within just a few minutes of the murder connected through the tower servicing the Applicant's home. (App. at 92-93; App. at 419-427). The records show that on the day of the murders the Applicant's cell phone never once connected to the tower servicing the scene of the murders. (App. at 93-94; App. at 419-427). Because the tower service areas are mutually exclusive Levitan concluded and opined that there was no evidence from cell phone records that the Applicant was at or even near the scene of the murders when the murders occurred, or at any time on the day of the murders (App. at 97; App. at 428-457). Levitan's testimony was based on the same records that were provided to defense counsel through pre-trial discovery.

Trial counsel also failed to file and serve a notice of alibi in the case. (App. at 304). Applicant's mother Patricia Fuller and his father Donald Johnson both testified that the Applicant was home on the morning of the murders. Fuller testified that she had to go through the Applicant's

room at 6:30 a.m. and again at 7:00 a.m. to get to the laundry room that morning and that when she did the Applicant was asleep on the couch. (App. at 118). She never saw the Applicant leave the house that day. (App. at 118-119). Applicant's trial counsel was aware of what Fuller's testimony would have been and although she was present at the trial, he did not call her as a witness. (App. at 122-123). Donald Johnson testified that he went through the Applicant's room between 9:30 a.m. to 9:45 a.m. that morning and that the Applicant was still asleep on the couch. (App. at 129). Trial counsel was aware of what Donald Johnson's testimony would be and although Donald Johnson was present at trial he was not called as a witness. (App. at 132-133). Donald Johnson testified that he was "shocked" when he and Ms. Fuller were not called as witnesses. (App. at 133). Trial counsel testified that he had met with Applicant's parents and was aware of what their testimony would be. (App. at 167). Trial counsel had discovery material showing that the time of death for both victims was approximately 10:00 a.m. (App. at 168-170; App. at 458-463).

Applicant's trial counsel testified that he had the cell phone records showing text messages to and from Applicant's phone, including texts at 9:37 a.m. and 9:39 a.m. and 10:16 a.m. on the morning of the murders. (App. at 176). Counsel also had the coroner's report and other discovery material that showed the time of deaths to be approximately 10:00 a.m. (App. at 169; App. at 458-461). Records provided to trial counsel through discovery showed the Applicant's phone was not at or near the murder scene when those texts were sent or received or at any time during the day of the murders. (App. at 175-176; App. at 376-427). Counsel also had phone records of Granados, who pled guilty for his role as the inside man at the murder scene who let the shooter into the Victim One's house by leaving a door unlocked. (App. at 177-178). Those records showed a stream

of calls and texts by Granados from victim's house up to 9:37 a.m. (App. at 177-178; App. at 376-379). Granados suddenly stopped sending texts and did not resume making calls or sending texts until 10:17a.m. (App. at 177-178; App. at 376-379). This left a conspicuous forty-minute gap in an otherwise constant stream of texts. (App. at 177-178; App. at 376-379). Trial Counsel admitted that Granados' phone records tended to establish the time of the murders, especially when combined with records from Emergency Response Services showing when they received and responded to a fire call at the murder scene. (App. at 178; App. at 462-463).

Applicant's trial counsel testified that he had the Applicant's phone records when preparing for trial. (App. at 178-179). Although he had never tried a case involving cell phone location data, he was aware that the phone records contained location data. (App. at 180, 208 and 229). Counsel testified that he and his staff looked at the phone records for location data but didn't understand how to interpret the information to use it at trial. (App. at 180). Despite knowing that the phone records contained location data Trial Counsel failed to obtain an expert to assist in the interpretation of the phone record data that he had or otherwise failed to educate himself so that he could make an informed decision as to the value of the location data to the Applicant's case. (App. at 180).

At the Post Convict Relief hearing, counsel admitted that location data could "possibly" have been significant to the defense of the case. (App. at 180). Trial Counsel's failure to obtain an expert and use the cell phone information that had been provided through discovery was compounded by the testimony of the investigating officer who testified that all the cell phone data had been analyzed and that it did not contain anything of value. (App. at 781). Although Trial Counsel testified that he was trying to minimize or mitigate the cell phone evidence as it might be

“hurtful” to the Applicant, he never tried to understand sufficiently the cell phone location data that he knew had been provided in the discovery material. He was therefore unaware of its exculpatory value, and as a result, could not possibly have made an informed decision as to its potential use. (App. at 230). Counsel’s failure to conduct an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case constitutes a failure to provide reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Applicant is therefore entitled to relief.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In post-conviction proceedings, the burden of proof is on the applicant to prove the allegations in his application.” Speaks v. State, 377 S.C. 396, 399, 660 S.E.2d 512, 514 (2008). “The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence.” Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. “This [c]ourt gives great deference to the factual findings of the PCR court and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). “Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and we will reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

DISCUSSION OF THE ISSUES

1. There is sufficient evidence supporting the PCR court’s ruling that trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to undertake reasonable efforts to understand and use cell phone location data that he was provided in discovery, along with other evidence that was available to support a defense of alibi and otherwise refute the State’s claim that the Respondent was present at the scene of the murders.

Criminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64

(2011). The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to “assistance by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where, as in this case, a PCR Petitioner alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland: first, the Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (*quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed.” Strickland,

466 U.S. at 670. The Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application by a preponderance of the evidence. Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814; Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

Counsel had discovery material showing establishing the victim's time of death at 10:00 a.m. By 10:13 a.m. the fire that had been started inside the murder scene had grown sufficiently to be noticed by a passerby who called 911 at 10:13 am. The time of death as determined by the coroner was supported by the conspicuous cessation of cell phone usage by the Inside Man between 9:37 a.m. to 10:17 a.m. Appellant's cell phone records placed the Appellant at home at 8:52 a.m., 9:03 a.m., 9:14 a.m., 9:33 a.m., 9:56 a.m., 10:07 a.m., and 10:46 a.m. While it is only a fourteen-minute round trip from the Appellant's home to the murder scene, the shooter's account of the murder and subsequent staging of the scene to look like a meth lab explosion would have taken a considerable amount of time. If Appellant's was using his phone from home at the times reported in the cell phone records it would have been impossible for him to be with the shooter, leave his house, drive to a place down the street from the murder scene, park and walk to the scene, participate in the all of the events described by the shooter involved in the actual murders, then go about staging the scene to look like a meth lab explosion, roll up the victims in a rug, attempt and fail several times to light the victims on fire, then actually set something in the house on fire, walk back to the car and then drive back to his house, all within one of the gaps shown on his cell phone records and during the times that he was observed to be at home asleep by his parents. Clearly there was substantial evidence and possibly overwhelming evidence that was available to counsel to refute the allegations that he was with the shooter at the scene and participated in the murders.

Applicant's trial counsel had the Applicant's phone records when preparing for trial. Those records come with explanatory information from the service provider (App. at 424-426). Although

Counsel had never tried a case involving cell phone location data, he was aware that the phone records contained location data. Counsel testified that he and his staff looked at the phone records for location data but didn't understand how to interpret the information to use it at trial. Despite knowing that the phone records contained location data, counsel failed to obtain an expert to assist in the interpretation of the phone record data that he had or otherwise to educate himself so that he could make an informed decision as to the value of the location data to the Applicant's case. At the PCR hearing counsel admitted that location data could have been significant to the defense of the case.

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